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Forward

I am happy indeed to get an opportunity to write "Foreword" for
the book "Sharanagati” written by senior dada Acérya Rudrénanda
Avadhuta. After going through the book I remember few lines of
Prabhata Samgiita-

“Tumi kakhano ki bhdve rayegecho,
kevd bujhite pdre ke jdnite pdre,
Kothd sumukhe Dad'iye hdsitecho,
Kotha maner gahane Lukiyecho dhari ki kare”.

O Lord! Who can understand where, when, with whom, in which
form and with what ideation you stay? Who can know that? Somewhere you
laugh sometime standing in the front, then somewhere you hide yourself
in the deeper recess of the mind. How can I understand You? Truly, every
Sadhaka has a very personal relationship with Parama Purusa according to
one’s own Samiskdras (Reactive momenta). The Scripture says,

“Tvameva mdtd ca pitd tvameva,
Tvameva bandhushca sakhad tvameva,
Tvameva vidyd dravinam tvameva,
tvameva sarvam mama deva deva.”



B4ba Shrii Shrii Anandamurtijii has made it obvious in Ananda Marga
Philosophy that Taraka Brahma is the Supreme Loving Father. He is the
only Supreme Master. He cannot remain aloof from His devotee/progenies;
He cannot maintain separation from them. Between Attributional and
Non-Attributional Stance, He remains ever associated with His own sons
and daughters-

“Bhdvah bhdvdtiitayoh setuh Tdraka Brahma”.

In this book the sense of the author’s proximity and concern with
with that his erudition, I§fanistha, Adarshanistha, Karmanistha, spiritual
experiences and work efficiency are well reflected. He has also delineated
the experiences of his organizational life. Surely, these are praiseworthy,
amazing and inspiring anecdotes.

I have been well acquainted with Acarya Rudrénanda Avadhuta from
the auspicious moment of beginning of my Whole Timer life and presently
I have been still closer to him amidst the ups and downs in the organization.
This is also the grace of the Lord and His Cosmic Plan. He is a man of
far sightedness and he possesses rational outlook as far as Ananda Marga
Mission is concerned.

Each and every reminiscence described in this book is like one each
petal of a flower. I am hopefully confident that the learned readers, especially
for whole time brothers and sisters, this book will be quite inspiring and
helpful as a guide.

— Acérya Vishvadevdnanda Avadhiita,
Purodhd Pramukha, Ananda Mdrga



A Few Words

The main theme of the book is spiritual along which a Sadhaka
gradually moves on under the shelter of a Spiritual Master (Guru)
and attain salvation (Moksa)

In this insurmountable journey of Spirituality, the guidance and
grace of Guru is inevitable. Today we are passing through a period of
Yugasanidhii (transitional phase of two eras). The Human Civilization is
at crossroads of history where the storm of dogmas and materialism tend
to uproot the human values, the advent of Shrii Shrii Anandamurtijii has
proved a boon to the human society.

Brahma (the Supreme Liberator). He has founded a Mission for the welfare
of the whole Universe. By His grace, I have got an opportunity to serve His
Mission as a Whole Timer (Sannyasii).

It is intrinsic nature of every human being to establish himself/
herself in Brahmahood by transcending oneself from the stage of staticity,
animality and human existence. This is nothing else but Human Dharma.
It is called Bhagavat Dharma. There are two wings of Bhdgavat Dharma
i.e. psycho-spiritual practice (Sadhana) and service to the expressed world
thereby to reach the zenith of Spirituality.

In the journey of Spirituality, devotion is placed at the top but with
the blending of knowledge and action, devotion springs forth. If spiritual
practices connect one with one’s soul, then selfless service to humanity



associates one with common mass. Walking along this twin pathway
individual and collective body can achieve peace and happiness. By Babd’s
grace | have been fortunate enough to gain experience in both the fields. In
search of knowledge whatever I understood and acquired, I have presented
it in a chapter in this book namely “the Science of Intuitional Practice -
a lion view”, for spiritual aspirants who can enjoy submerging themselves
in the depth of spirituality. Experiences of actional world are described in
details in the rest of the chapters.

— Acédrya Rudrananda Avadhuta



The editing team of Delhi

In addition to the difficulties of translating, the English edition of this book
which required many revisions and additional notes to make it accessible to
an audience not familiar with the Samiskrta and Indian Culture. The onerous
task of editing and rendering of this book into English was done by three
students of Acérya Rudrananda D4d4.

It has been our pleasure to understand from Dada over the years, and
we wanted to share the insights we have gained with others by helping D4dd4
to publish his experiences in English. It has not been easy for us to bring
Dédds life experiences to the world, but having gained so much knowledge
from Dada, we felt it was our humble duty to express what we can as ordinary
mortals. This work required us to seek the help of experts in philosophy and
the English language so that everything was clear and accurate.

Dada extends his earnest regards to all of them who directly or
indirectly contributed their time and effort to help bring out this book. This
English edition has been edited by a completely different team who are all
family people.

In this English version a lot of credit goes to Acirya Gundtmananda
Dada for all the hard work he has put in to give this book the final shape.
The sincerity and devotion of his work clearly shines through the entire
part of the Sddhana chapter that he did the idea of the cover has also been



his contribution We would like to add a comment about the books covers.
We felt that it was not easy to give a face to a book which goes to discusses
the very depth of Dadds life, but one member of the team (in particular)
felt that the cover of the book had to do just that and diligently worked on,
changed and refined the book cover over a period of four months. Then
just prior to the booK’s printing, who designed the cover was asked to add
another cover to this book. She was rather disheartened but being on the
path of Tantra did not want to complain to Dada (who would have likely
considered all her hard work and relented in his request for second cover),
because accepting challenges is the very spirit of Tantra.

To recreate the book cover, she needed golden fonts and she did not
know how to make the golden fonts for the desired cover, She slept with an
aching heart but was hopeful nonetheless. The next morning, she opened the
screen of her computer and she saw a miracle! The formula to create the golden
fonts was on her screen! This then is clearly divine intervention ... She was
given the message that the book had to be printed with both sets of covers!
Many out there will not believe this but trust me, it was not her imagination!
At the end of this experience all we can say is: “Baba Nama Kevalama” hus she
created the cover which one sees on the book, in accordance to Dadd’s desires.

“This is the valuable tale of an experienced practitioner of the
Intuitional Science, who has reached to the pinnacled goal of human life,
and his relationship with his Guru, whose guidance and love enabled
him to reach the goal. These stories give an invaluable example to inspire
anyone who is ready to take up the path of Tantra, but it is more essential
to understand the philosophical base so that one can proceed in a rational
style. For that reason, the final chapter discusses the history, philosophy and
practice of Tantra, then explains the modernization and systematization
and scientific approach of Ananda Méarga Sadhand. In the original Hindi
version of this book, the chapter about Tantrika philosophy (The science of
intuitional practice- A lion view) was at the beginning of the book, and the
reader who is keenly interested in practicing Tantra may wish to read the
final chapter first, and then proceed to read the stories of D4dd’s experiences
on the Tantrika path under the loving care of his Guru”
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CHAPTER-01

Background of Sharanagati

The beginning of my quest for truth started with the initiation into Vaedikii
Diiks4, but my mind was not satisfied. I only saw the involvement of dogmatic
rituals in that religious ceremony. The Family Priest made me an aspirant
in a few hours only by ascribing Yajinopaviit and Géyatrii to me and sent
me to Varanasi for further studies as I was very young. While sitting on
the banks of the Ganges it occurred to me that this life was monotonous. I
had a great urge to realize Lord Shiva so I used to meditate upon him or try
to empty my mind of thoughts. My family wanted to send me Varanasi to
study Saniskrta. But my guardian wanted me to persue education through
the English medium. I now feel that studying Sams’krta would have been
better from the viewpoint of Spiritual Practices, but I think studying English
proved beneficial for social life, as I am able to do the Organisation's work
today. I realized that this life is a gift of His Will, which I did not know earlier.
Moreover, just after my birth, my grandfather had commented after seeing
me as a new-born baby and looking at my whole body limb by limb that he
would not stay very long with us. But it was forgotten by all. Though my
mother used to repeat it from time to time. But I never understood these
matters. Sometimes I used to become emotional while sitting on the banks
of Jahdnvii (the Ganges) river. Once I wept all of a sudden, while sitting in
the Dhyana on the roof of my house feeling a natural attraction towards the
Unknown Entity. After that I experienced the same emotions quite often.
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It was the year 1958, when a family Acrya came to my hostel. I came
to know about the spiritual practices from him for the first time, but I did
not go further, may be the time was not ripe. Afterwards, a book named
“Ananda Mérga- Elementary Philosophy” came into my hand, I read it and
liked it and kept reading whenever I got time. In the year 1960, I went to see
Bébd during His Patna visit. I approached the door of His room where He
was staying but retreated as I felt that the time was not right and neither did
I feel any special attraction towards Him.



CHAPTER-02

Initiation into Tantrikii Diik$a
and attraction towards I$ta

In 1961, Baba returned to stay in Patliputra for some time. It is worth
mentioning here that the students of Patna University’s Bihar School of
Engineering and Law College were fascinated by Béba’s ideology. At that
time, I was staying in Patna and was occupied with preparation for the Civil
Services. On July 16, 1961, I was initiated by a family Acarya, Tarakeshawarji
and it was followed by personal contact on the 17th (the following day).
Bdba made me make many a promise, but my real interest was in the study
and in the preparation for my future life. However, I cannot say when my
attraction for Bdbé started to grow. Soon Bdba returned to Jamalpur via
Muzaffarpur and left a message for me. Late Sashirain janjii sent a message
to my hostel, that Baba has asked me to come to Jamalpur, and even though
I was extremely busy, I could not ignore his call.

Until now I was only acquainted with the Vaedika traditions
of initiation, which were dominated by elaborate rituals and their
arrangements. Tantrika initiation, on the other hand, was exactly the
opposite of this. It had almost no external rituals to be performed. The
ceremonies were innovative and very real.

First, Acdryajii made me take an oath. He then told me about the
process of intuitional practice and he explained to me what the I$ta Cakra
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was and gave me an I$ta Mantra. This Mantra was different from the
Gayatrii Mantra. The incantation was to be done with each inhalation and
exhalation of the breath. Via this spiritual practice, I learnt the Mantraghata,
Dipanii, Mantracaetanya, which were not only unique but were also very
heart touching.

Initially it was very hard to concentrate. The inner meaning of
Mantracaetanya was explained to me, but for a long time I could not truly
understand the depth and essence of it. I was unable to do my spiritual
practices regularly because of the easily distracted tendencies of the mind
and my inability to concentrate. At the time of my initiation, only half of
the practice of lishvara Pranidhdna was taught to me, but I was not able
to do even that much! It was a most peculiar situation for me as I was
not interested in any other method of spiritual practice and at the same
time, I couldn’t understand or fully practice this new method! At the very
beginning of my spiritual life, I had neither the attraction for my I$ta, nor
much knowledge of Mérga Ideology. It was during my first personal contact
with Gurudeva on July 17, 1961 that he made me make some promises and
explained a few principles to me. But when he asked me to be regular with
the institutional practice, I said clearly that I would try only after the civil
services exam. I had the misconception that my spiritual practices would
eat into my hours of study, but in reality, the spiritual practice and my study
complemented each other. An untrained mind fails to see this truth! On
receiving the call from Babé in Jamalpur, I couldn’t stop myself and my
mind could not find a valid excuse to avoid going, so I left for Jamalpur. As
instructed, I reached the Olipur Jagrti [place of worship] in the evening.
Midhavajii, the Office Secretary, welcomed me with a warm smile and
registered my name in his dairy, and listed my name in the evening travel
schedule. He soon left, having asked me to wait outside Gurudeva’s official
residence. As my anxiety grew, I reached Babd’s residence around 8 pm, and
waited, in anticipation, to be called in. A few other people were also waiting.
An older man from that group came up to me and started interviewing me,
which I really did not take in good spirit. I stood there, not listening, not
paying any attention to his words, but he continued to bombard me with
a relentless barrage of questions: “Where have you come from? Whom do
you want to meet? Why are you waiting here?” I did answer his questions,
one by one. I said, “I have been asked to wait here to meet Baba.” He replied,
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“Béabd doesn't live here. You are at the wrong place” I knew that I was at the
right place, so I was not perturbed at all by his reply. Later I realized that
the old man was steadfast in his approach to see whether his badgering
would fluster me and if I would so leave the place. On realizing that I was
adamant and would stay, perhaps he felt satisfied. Eventually Baba came out
at his scheduled time. Everyone there joined him and began to walk with
him. I too followed them. After crossing the railway bridge, we passed the
church and reached the Tiger’s grave. Gurudeva indicated to me to come sit
by his side. After a short while he took me to the infamous tree, where the
unfortunate incident of the washer man and woman had taken place. The
atmosphere of that place was quite frightening. Gurudeva spoke to me and
said, “If I teach you the technique of Shmashdna Sadhana, you will not be
frightened, is that right?” I said, “Baba, Of course I would be frightened!”
To which Gurudeva replied, “Okay all right” And our talk ended there.

Later on, when I discussed this incident with other people, I got the
feeling that the Tantra Guru was preparing the ground to teach me Képalika
Sadhana. However, on seeing my immaturity or lack of preparedness, Baba
decided to avoid this topic. And as I learnt the significance of the Képélika
Sadhand, my curiosity to learn it grew in leaps and bounds and made me
restless, but whenever I raised this issue with Bab4, he ignored my pleas
and put me to work. As the predisposition to fear started to wane, and my
courage grew, so did the desire to learn Shmashana Sadhand intensify.

The next time we went to the Tiger’s Grave, Bidba made me sit beside
him under that particular tree and narrated the story of the washerman
and the woman. Bdb4a also enlightened us on the history of the Tiger’s
Grave. Suddenly Bab4 began to talk in a most serious tone and said, “This
incident is related to this Tiger’s grave yard. One night, when I was sitting
here, suddenly I saw that your bodiless mind was passing by this place. I,
of my own will, made you take birth at this particular place. As per your
Saniskéra you were meant to take birth somewhere else. However, since you
have this birth because I willed it, so you must live according to my wish.”
At the time I couldn’t understand the gravity of these words, but from that
moment on, my attraction towards Gurudeva most certainly increased! I
felt as if I was not capable of turning down his orders. This made me recall
one particular incident of my childhood that I had heard several times,
from my mother. When I was born, my body was wrapped in the umbilical
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cord. Seeing my entangled body, my maternal grandfather, who was also
our family astrologer, said that I came tied to see if I stayed at home to live
a normal family life, or not. These words flashed again before me while I
was sitting at the Tiger’s grave. Suddenly Gurudeva started to talk about my
previous life and touched my Ajina Cakra. The people who were present
there with us noticed a sudden transformation in Babds mood. Hereafter
my mind began to dive inwards and my life of spiritual practice began in
the true sense of the term. Though Baba had given me personal contact
ten days ago, in reality I began to have spiritual experiences only after this
meeting. In that sense this was my first real meeting with Baba. Now I was
able to do my spiritual practices for longer periods of time and my interest
in Sddhana grew.



CHAPTER-03

Background of an Ascetic

As my mind became increasingly drawn towards spiritual practice, I began
to find family life incomplete and unfulfilling. In fact, coming back from the
Tiger’s grave, as I sat down in the lotus pose to begin my spiritual practice,
in the Jamalpur Jagrti; for the first time my mind became absorbed in deep
meditation and I experienced an unfamiliar sense of joy. It seemed to me
that this was the true essence of life. I became increasingly regular with my
spiritual practice and I also began to visit Jamalpur on a regular basis. Quite
often, whenever He was free, Gurudeva used to call me to his room. In His
presence, I began to smell the sweetness of aromatics and even when I was
away from Gurudeva, I could smell different, and very pleasant fragrances.
Though these experiences were pleasant, I didn’t realize them to be anything
more, then. The attraction towards my I$ta also grew more intense. I began to
travel to Jamalpur every Sunday and I would love to sit in Jagrti and meditate
on the ground. Living in the company of other spiritual aspirants, I began
to realize exactly how hard it was to practice and observe Yama and Niyama
with unwavering discipline and strictness.

Sometimes, because of this situation, there would be a very real
possibility that I could miss my train. On my return journey from Jamalpur
Babé would tell me to go fast so that I would not miss my train, but I had
this firm belief that I would never miss it, and as matter of fact, I never did!
Gurudeva had given clear instructions that travelling without a ticket was
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not acceptable as it went against the codes of Yama and Niyama. If ever,
things were to come to such a pass that we were helpless and had to travel
without a ticket, then at the end of the proposed journey we were supposed
to purchase a ticket of equal amount and tear it. Due to this righteous
conduct of the aspirants, the popularity of Ananda Mérga increased, and in
turn, such behaviour strengthened the conscience of the aspirant.

I realized or sensed that there was some sort of preparation going on
inside of me, but I could not perceive what it was as I was still of a tender
age and the future was certainly not clear to me as yet. Apparently, I was
busy preparing for an external worldly life, but someone or something was
getting me internally ready for other things. I began to sense that the internal
preparation that was going on was to lead me onto a path of renunciation.
Material objects did not attract me much. Whenever the opportunity arose
I would enjoy going to the village, bathe in the river Ganges and then sit to
meditate.

On my way back home from the sandy banks of the Ganges, I would
continue to feel the pleasant touch of the southern winds that would raise
me to a state of near bliss. Having observed my conduct my relatives were
shocked! Around this time, the Sino-India war broke out and an order came
from Gurudeva, “You must clarify the Méarga’s position among the people
and within the government circles and serve your country.” The clarification
of the Mérga’s position at this juncture was called the five principles of Prout
had already been introduced to the people and Proutists would talk about
the conscientious distribution of property, etc. The common people had
begun to form an image of spiritual aspirants of the Mérga, which was akin
to communists and not true spiritualists. Against the backdrop of the war,
an appropriate opportunity came up for the Ananda Mérga to dispel this
misconception of the general public. It became extremely necessary to do
so, because at that time Communists were supporting China, not India. In
this regard, the efforts of the Margiis brought about good results.

The fervor of nationalism unified the entire country and it became
a great example of national integration. There was an incredible wave of
enthusiasm all around. I got a job in the department of Defense Audit
and Account services, and was posted in Guwahati. The Narangi forests
of Guwahati turned out to be a very good place for my spiritual practice.
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Around now is when I started to have great experiences during my
meditation. In the wee hours of the morning, during Brahma Mubhirtta, I
would walk at a particular pace in the forest, to a place where there was a
small waterfall. Adjacent to the waterfall was a tree. I used to do my spiritual
practice there, under the tree, daily, sitting comfortably on a rock, which
was just big enough for me. Though that part of the forest was run over with
snakes and elephants, they never troubled me.

My mind and my heart were fearless and were beaming with
enthusiasm. Sitting by the side of this cascade, I used to remain immersed
in mediation for hours and would return in a cheerful mood to my quarters
in the evenings. Though this cheerfulness never made me shy away from
work, I noticed that my attraction towards the material world continued to
decrease. Since all my actions were driven by Yama and Niyama, it raised a
great deal of dissatisfaction among my colleagues.

In those days the Narangi Army cantonment was being built near
Guwahati and I was in-charge of the audit of this project. This particular
incident took place in 1963. An Avadhuta, and a Brahmacarii who had
given up the material world, used to come quite often to my rooms seeking
help. One day he told me of a DMC [Dharma Mahd Cakra] that was going
to be held in Ambagan in the Nawagaon district. I left almost immediately
for Navagaon to attend the DMC, held at Ambagan.

It was morning and everyone was eating breakfast. I too took a
light breakfast with them. A message came, “Baba is calling you” I got up
from the breakfast table and began to walk towards Babd’s quarters. After
showing me to Babd’s room, the Avadhdta who was escorting me went
about attending to his own duties. Upon entering the room, I first did
a prostrated salutation to Gurudeva and then sat in front of Him. After
greeting me with Shubhamastu [the Guru’s blessings at the psychic level]
and Kalydnamastu [blessings at the spiritual level], Bdba began to talk to
me about my forthcoming life. He said, “This place is not suitable for you”
Continuing further, he said, “Eastern India is not beneficial for your health”
I asked, “What should I do then, Baba?” The reply from Babé was, “It is up
to you to decide”

I was caught in a bind as to what to reply. However, as soon as I had
entered the room, Baba had ordered me to lock it from inside and inside
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the room there was none other than Jiiva and Shiva. Jiiva was worried,
overcome with anxiety but Shiva was calm and cheerful. On and off I spoke
up, “I do not understand anything. Please tell me what to do?” Baba would
say, “No, this decision should be made by you”

At this point, I slowly began to understand what was Babd’s intention.
I then said, “It is such a big decision. How can I take a call on my own?”
Baba replied, “It is necessary to take big decisions in order to perform great
deeds”

I expressed to Baba my inability to take such a major decision on my
own. Time was flying by. We both forgot to eat our breakfast. The world
outside had no inkling about what was transpiring between us, inside the
room. Both of us were fixed in our respective seats. Bdba wanted me to
make a decision. I was eagerly waiting for the 'order' to come from His
mouth and I was in no hurry.

More than an hour and a half elapsed before Bab4 broke his silence,
saying, “What do you want?” I said, “I want your order Béb4, nothing else.”
Thereafter, suddenly, Béb4 started teaching me history. And again asked
me, “Now tell me, what do you want?” “An order Bdba” Baba immediately
became very serious and said, “All right then”. Baba said, “You go out and
come forward” With a sweet smile breaking across His face, Baba said,
“Now it is okay right?” I replied, “Baba, to some extent it is okay.” “Even now
‘oK’ to some extent’?” Bib4 said. “What is your problem now? Whatever you
have wanted you have received only that” I said, “No B4b4, not yet” Biba
was clearly surprised by my reaction. My patience was also giving in and I
was almost restless.

Bdbd said, “Lots of time has passed. Let me do other pending works”
I said, “Babd, we cannot leave this work unfinished either, in a half baked
manner.” Baba too agreed with me.

Almost two hours must have passed. Babéa was very composed and
was looking curiously at me, but the beauty of His pleasant smile melted
away any worries about the past or the future.

Béba spoke, “You go out. What do you say now?”

I was thinking about the difficulties of this path. If T were to ever

10



Background of an Ascetic

waver from my resolve, I would be a good for nothing. So I looked up to
Béba and said, “You have to promise me something, that if, ever by any
chance I decide to leave, you will not let me go.”

My response annoyed Baba and He said, “You cannot act like this!”
He further said, “Why would you leave me?”

I said, “Bab4d 1 am a human being bound by the reactions of my
Sarhskdra. How can I take on such a big responsibility? What will happen if
I deviate from the path and give up midway? What would happen to me if I
turn away from you?” I thus revealed all my fears to Baba that were indeed
holding back my spirit.

Bdba again said, “Everything is in your favor. How is it possible that
you will turn away from me?” I said, “Is there any guarantee at all of mortal
beings? In the case of good intellect failing, anything can happen.”

Almost three hours had passed up till this point. I could not imagine
what the people waiting outside were thinking. Baba suddenly became very
serious and in a commanding tone said, “If at all you want to leave me, I
will never let you go”

Babé assumed the Ashirvada Mudra and blessed me. I immediately
prostrated myself keeping my gaze fixed on his feet, I slowly started to move
backwards to unlock the door. Bdba was constantly watching me. I came
out of the room, almost in a state best described as in trance. The people
who were present outside were very keen to know the cause of such a long
delay, to know what went on inside the room. I was in no state to speak.
Two monks who were present perhaps had a hunch about what could have
transpired between Baba and myself, inside the room. From then onwards,
my daily activities convinced my collogues that I had taken the decision to
change the Ashrama.

From now on my life was primarily based on the strict observance
of Yama and Niyama. Over the course of time, my meditation became very
smooth and I would spend hours meditating beside a waterfall in the dense
forest. I had numerous spiritual experiences and as I look back, there was
a stage when I believed that nothing was impossible for me to achieve. My
attraction towards Gurudeva increased by manifold. There was a time when
I felt that I had achieved Vak Siddhi, but this phase didn’t last too long.
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I distributed my clothes among my friends. As and when the opportunity
came, I went to the Purvashrama. After a week of this I left for Jamalpur
instead of leaving for Guwahati, in order to prepare for the future course
of my life.
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CHAPTER-04

The spiritual aspirant embarks upon
a journey to seek the truth

I left home without giving the slightest hint to anyone of my decision. As
soon as I crossed the outer limits of the village, I turned as a final mark of
respect did a heartfelt Namaskara to the village. Instead of going to Guwahati,
I went to Jamalpur. The office informed Béba about my arrival, as Baba was
present in His quarters at the time. I entered His room and after prostrating
myself to Babd, He indicated to me to come closer. I proceeded and sat down
close to His bed. Gurudeva looked at me without blinking an eye. After
some time, Bdba touched my Ista Cakra and performed Shaktipat [spiritual
empowerment] on me. I lost control of my senses.

Firstly, I forgot all my fears and worries of the past, which used to
periodically trouble me. My mind experienced a deluge of infinite bliss! It
seemed as if nothing was impossible for me to achieve anymore. That day I
stayed in Babd’s room for a long time and unlike other days. I was filled with
Divine bliss. Neither was I willing to leave the room nor was anyone asking
me to.

The Tittvika classes soon began on the Cycle of Creation. My mind
withdrew its focus from any distraction and was completely absorbed in
the contemplation of the cyclical mysteries of life. One subject after another
started to come up in class. There were a good number of students in the
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class, consisting of both family persons and monks. Baba Himself used
to come every day to take our class and explained complex philosophical
treatises very simply by presenting them in an exciting and unique way.
There were multi talented people in our group and some were very good
Bhajana singers. It was not yet the time of Prabhata Samgiitas, so people
used to generally sing Bhajans of Miirabai, Surdas, Tulsidas and Kabiir. A
few people even sang their own compositions. The atmosphere in Jamalpur
simply radiated devotion. It was sudden when the General Secretary [a
family man] told us that Dadd’s mother had passed away. All the trainees
immediately left for the Munger cremation grounds. As I saw the mortal
body of the respected mother being lit on the pyre, I realized the ultimate
state of the human body. Having returned from the cremation ground, as
I sat for evening meditation, my mind grew very indifferent towards the
world and all worldly bondages began to slip away. Quite often, along with
my fellow trainees, I used to discuss complex philosophical topics. I found
the chapter on the Kosa particularly difficult. T began to understand this
topic only after years of inquiry.

14



CHAPTER-05

Baba as the examiner

As our classes were completed it was time for our examinations. Baba Himself
was the examiner. Even today, I vividly recall how my Tattvika exam was
conducted. It was a winter afternoon, the venue of the exam was exactly at
the same place where Jamalpur Jagrti stands today, with Baba seated on the
examiner’s chair. I was standing in front of Him, as an examinee. Sitting in
the chair of the examiner, Baba was in a different mood; not gentle but very
strict. He asked the following questions. Baba asked, “Have you come for
the exam? If yes, then be ready” I didn’t say anything, but just kept looking
at Him. Babd asked, “What is the Cosmic Mind?” Pointing towards Baba, I
replied, “It is You only” Baba reacted, “Answer properly.” I said, “So far as I
understand, I am answering correctly Baba” On my reply Baba turned very
serious, and said, “You have very badly failed in My exam” I said, “I am proud
of it, Baba” Bab4 was surprised, and asked, “Are you proud of your failure?”
I said, “No Béaba” He said, “Then what are you proud of? I replied, “I was
failed by whom, Baba? By the cosmic mind himself

Bébd’s face split into a sweet smile and He patted my cheeks with both
His hands.

Then Baba went onto talk further, “As the organization is growing
bigger, so the workload is increasing and it is now putting a burden on
Me. You will reduce My workload to some extent. You may go to Varanasi
and start conducting training programs there. From now on the training
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programs will be conducted in Varanasi instead of Jamalpur. But keep one
thing in mind, you would be taking classes in English because full time
trainees from foreign countries will soon start coming in.”

I asked Baba how this unsuccessful Tattvika would be able to carry
out this task. Babd was very calm and answered spontaneously, “You
would do it” On asking how, Bidba became serious and said, “With My
Grace” I performed a prostrate salutation and accepted this responsibility.
Then Bdbd gave me some essential instructions on how to go about my
work. I memorized his instructions and even today, I contemplate those
instructions from Bab4, and they still guide me much like a pole star as
when I perform His duties. I received the official instruction to not only
do self-study and teaching but also to understand the psychology of
full time trainees. Later on, when the then GS Dada also gave me some
further essential instructions. Now it was the time for me to leave for my
posting. I was getting increasingly anxious over the thought of going away
from Gurudeva and also about the fact that until now, [ had no practical
experience of finishing a task in a time bound manner. Though I had gained
some knowledge and experience while working in the Math on how to
apply the required skills acquired in training, to complete a certain task.
Till now though, my entire plan was on a mental level. At that point in time,
I myself was not well versed with the organization. I was told that it was a
conscious decision to post the fulltime workers in Varanasi as the city was
founded by Lord Shiva. I later heard from Gurudeva himself that Varanasi
was the winter capital of Lord Shiva.
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CHAPTER-06

My first experience of work life

In those early days a training Matha was established in a rented flat in Sigara,
Varanasi. Incidentally, I was the first training secretary posted in this Matha.
This center didn't have even the most basic facilities. My career, which was
one of self-study, teaching and intuitional practice, was started with a group
of fifteen or sixteen Brahmacariis.

Gurudeva was the nucleus of attention in the organization. It was
because of His attractiveness that helpless and depressed people kept coming
to the Varanasi Matha seeking a new lease on life. I got a life membership of
the Banaras (Varanasi) Hindu University (BHU) library and started reading
books on philosophy. In the meantime, Gurudeva visited Varanasi. Since
we had no accommodation facilities in the Matha in those days so Baba
stayed in a hotel in Godawlia. Baba gave me some information related to the
training programs, which was followed by a few more instructions from Him.
Enlightening us on the significance of Varanasi, he gave us his blessings to
attain progress in our spiritual practice. I felt very good about this fact, as
Babd’s Varanasi visit was not expected.

For some reason, all the Brahmacdriis, workers and Avadhutas were
invited for the training programs and every nook and cranny of our tiny
training center was teeming with people. But, nothing seemed awkward or
out of place. I felt enormously encouraged as everyone came and made a
sincere effort to get to know each other. In those days, it was easy to identify
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Vaeragya in conduct and as a result I really connected well with some people.
Perhaps this is one of the reasons that with each passing day, the numbers of
trainees grew in leaps and bounds. It would not be exaggerating to mention
here that a good number of students from nearby universities began choosing
the life of an Avadhuta as their life's goal. The enthusiasm was electric and this
is one of the reasons that people from all sections of society, came to Ananda
Marga.

Certain events acted as catalysts and brought about such a situation. At
this time India was rebuilding herself to accept a new dawn she lacked three
things, which were introduced by Shrii Shrii Anandamurtijii. There lacked
a holistic philosophy of life and this need was fulfilled by the introduction
of the Ananda Sttram, which was published in 1961 with 85 treatises,
contained in five chapters. It was an unprecedented contribution, which was
disseminated after Vadardyana Vyass Brahmasttra. Babd's perception was
not only limited to the contours of a “ceaseless quest for Brahma” but also
embraced an important social philosophy within its ambit.

Perhaps after the Second World War, arising from the ravages of
conflicting ideas of materialism, the young generations finally were given
a correct philosophy of life, which allowed them to walk upon the path of
Truth. A structural plan is the unparalleled contribution given by Béb4, to
mankind. Not only did he propound a philosophy of life, which is infallible
but he also laid out a detailed plan on how it should be implemented so that it
could benefit even those persons who belonged to the lowest strata of society.
Unlike other philosophers he did not bother to validate his philosophical
treatise at a theoretical level, rather he went on to introduce an actual system
based on this philosophy so that it could benefit all, including those who do
not possess a developed intellect. His third contribution was the organization,
beautifully built upon the foundations of a unique harmony, between family
persons and ascetics.

No other civilization had proposed such a system, as did Baba.
While working in the training Matha, I had many occasions to discuss
the incidents that I was fortunate to have experienced with Biba. Merely
contemplating on them would fill me with great enthusiasm and they have
since also helped me realize that Gurudeva was a magnificent craftsman.
In the history of humankind no other Mahdsambhiti [God in His human
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form, e.g. Lord Shiva], endowed with so many exceptional qualities, has
graced this planet. Babd’s Varanasi visit taught me the importance of action
and knowledge. I used to spend much of the day in self-study, spiritual
practice’s and guiding trainees. In due course I realized that memories of
the past had almost ceased to haunt me.

It so happened that one day I found that I was inexplicably restless, was
not feeling good and had lost interest in everything. I cried copiously during
meditation. I cannot describe whether it was tears of an ascetic or whether
my mind was agitated without reason. Suddenly a thought arose in my mind
that perhaps I would not remain here for much longer, yet nothing was clear.
Gurudeva had given me hints of this type of reaction during the DMC held
in Patna in 1965, in Ananda Purriima. At that time, the news of late Acarya
Ramtanukjii’s son, who was missing, created a lot of ruckus. Acaryajii was
working as Bébd’s secretary. Finally, everyone left the DMC for Ranchi to
attend the summer camp there.
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CHAPTER-07

Himachal Posting

During the second week of June, I was transferred from Shiva’s winter capital
Varanasi to His summer capital, Shimla. As the season changed so did my
posting, but Shiva and His enduring historical memories stayed with me. It
would be quite appropriate to point out here that prior to my meeting with
Gurudeva, Lord Shiva was my I$ta-Devata [a term denoting a worshipper’s
favourite deity within Hinduism]. So fortunately, the background was already
present and I did not have to face any adjustment issues. As long as I lived
in Varanasi I did not have to switch to a new type of attire. I wore the attire
of a Brahmacirii [a celibate student of the Vedas, one committed to live as
a Brahmacirii] along with a yellow Chonga [the robe of a Sannyésii]. At the
end of second week of June I reached Shimla. A room was arranged for me
at the Daydnanda Anglo-Vedic (DAV) School in Lakkar Bézar. I took the
keys from the Principal and went to my room. It was so small that it did not
even have enough space to accommodate a table and chair. A water tap was
also fitted inside.

I reached my accommodations in the afternoon. I was carrying with
me some essential items that I had purchased from the market. After crossing
the playground, before taking a turn towards the School I met a monkey who
was sitting at the corner of the road like he always did. Before I knew it this
monkey smoothly snatched the bags from my hands and scrutinized me. I
can still vividly recall the memory of how he first grabbed the strings tying
the bags, tearing it apart with his teeth as he spread the contents of the bags
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on the road. As he smashed the food and other articles on the road, he stared
at me pretending it was his property and I, should go about minding my own
business!

People passing by commented that this particular monkey was the boss
of Shimla and no one could stop him as he had perpetrated many acts there. I
listened to the onlookers’ advice and went straight to my room. Though it was
summer even then, in the year 1965, it was necessary to wear a light sweater
during the day. On hearing of my Shimla posting, wholetime workers came to
meet me asking when I would be leaving Ranchi. They gifted me many things
like blankets and other essential items as per their choice, because all of them
had come from their respective work areas.

My fieldwork began on the second day of my arrival in Shimla. After
finishing up my chores and spiritual practices, I used to go out at 6:30 am.
I would regularly take with me at least one spiritual aspirant to help him
practice his spiritual practices. My daily routine included monitoring the
spiritual practices of aspirants in the morning, arranging Tattva Sabha [a
spiritual gathering] during the day, and giving initiations in the evening. In
this manner, I managed to train almost 25-30 spiritual aspirants within one
month.

After a short period of time when I entered any government office,
I met and selected prospective spiritual aspirants. Among them were Shrii
Thakur Singh Negi, the principal secretary of the state; Shrii Desraj Mahajan,
speaker of the assembly; and Shrii Visan Das, director of the welfare
department, these were among the few spiritual aspirants. I was often in a fix
as to what to do regarding travel since I had no money to allow me to travel
outside Shimla. So I started to plan.

In the meanwhile, I met a local transporter who was a very amicable
and sociable person. I used to hitch a ride with him in his truck and so
reached the small town of Nérkand4 and stayed in a Forest Department
guesthouse. I later organized a Tattva Sabhd there and even initiated few
people. One evening, while I was standing at a high point, surveying the
neighboring areas, the people told me that on the other side of the valley was
a very affluent and prosperous community as they had made great fortunes
from apple farming. Apple farming brought prosperity to this area but it also
brought with it both materialism and consumerism. They were therefore in
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dire need of spirituality. It was two days before I reached this region known as
the Thanedhar-Kotgarh belt, by truck. Legend has it that this area was earlier
known as Gurukot’; in course of time it came to be known as Kofgarh.

The story of the development of this area began with the arrival of
a Christian Evangelist. In the early part of the 20th century, Father Samuel
Stokes was sent to Kot'garh to carry out missionary work in Himachal, from
America. He was a well-educated, hardworking and refined young man. He
was a very dynamic person and always ready to do things. He was given
the task to exploit the poor and the innocent people to convert them to
Christianity. However, while performing his duty he encountered followers of
the Vedic religion and he was overwhelmed by the eternal wisdom enshrined
in the Bhagavada Giitd and the Upanishads. Stokes abandoned Christianity
and with the help of the local Arya Samdjii’s got initiated into the Hindu
Vedic religion. Due to this transformation Stokes became an Indian in both
his thinking and in his lifestyle. He transformed into Satydnanda Stokes from
Samuel Stokes. Soft spoken, hardworking and now a complete Indian in belief
and conduct, Satydnandajii participated in the Indian freedom struggle with
great vigour.

Stokes is famous for two very impactful things he did. He brought apple
saplings from America and planted them in Kofgarh. As these apple trees
grew, they over ran the indigenous species of apple. As a result, apple farming
faced recurrent resistance. A series of protests occurred as apple saplings were
replacing wheat fields. Suspicion grew. Questions were raised that if wheat
fields were being turned into apple orchards, what people would eat? Until that
point nobody could imagine that Himachal would soon require a horticulture
department! People would say that initially Satyanandajii began to convert us
and then he turned our wheat fields into apple orchards. But Sataydnandajii
was unmoved by all these developments, because he had decided to live on the
principles of ‘Satyameva Jayate, which means ‘truth alone triumphs, a Mantra
from the ancient Indian scripture, Mundaka Upanishad. In the beginning
well-educated and intelligent people came forward and then others followed.
Today, the apples of Kotgarh popularly known as “Royal Delicious,” are
sold in the fruit markets of Delhi, Mumbai, Kolkata and Chennai. When I
visited Kotgarh much later on another occasion people said that apple trees
were gold bearing trees. So it is indeed a fact that Satyanandajii’s dream had
materialized. I had the opportunity to work there for one month. On the very
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first day, an assembly was organized in the backyard of Shrii Om Prakash jii’s
shop; where I initiated thirteen people.

People embraced new thoughts of spirituality with great enthusiasm
so following the tradition of Kotgarh to welcome new ideas and thoughts.
This is one of the reasons why Kotgarh was not only prosperous but the per
capita income was higher than any other place in India for a certain period
of time. But with the ever-increasing population this economic data is now
redundant. To put things in perspective it is necessary to mention here that
this first batch of Margiis [disciples] whom I initiated in the backyard of Shrii
Om Prakashjiis shop, were the pioneers in spreading the Marga’s ideology
in Himachal Pradesh, and so within a very short span of time the Ananda
Marga became a household ideology in Kotgarh. Shrii Pritam Chanda Stokes
was the first member of the Stokes family to take Diiks4 into Ananda Marga.
Shrii Lalchand Stokes followed his footsteps a little later.

On returning to Shimla I got very caught up in missionary work. The
tiny room which was my living quarters in Shimla so generously given by
the DAV school Principal Shrii Satyaprakashjii, turned out to be the centre
of attraction always remaining busy because of frequent visits by all types of
people starting with government employees to members of the royal family.
Soon it came to be known that whoever ate Khicadi [a dish from the Indian
subcontinent made from rice and lentils (Dal)] prepared on the stove kept in
that room inevitably became, a spiritual aspirant. During the extreme winters,
my room in Lakkar Bazar turned into one of the coldest places in Shimla as
the sun’s rays never reached the inside of the room. As was my routine every
morning at 6:30 am I would leave after doing my morning meditations to go
to a devotee’s house to guide them in their spiritual practices. I would leave
from there at 9:30 am because by 10am government offices and schools would
open. On arriving at my destination each morning I would prepare at least
one person for intuitional practice. It was 2 0clock by the time I would be able
to get back to my room. Having finished the afternoon meditations and lunch
I would once again go out for missionary work returning home by 6 pm. This
is how I went about my day to day business. In this way within one-and-a half
months, 30 people in Shimla were initiated into becoming spiritual aspirants.
It was in August that news came from Delhi that Gurudeva was about to visit
Jammu via Delhi. On hearing this I immediately left for Delhi along with a
Margii brother.
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CHAPTER-08

The first visit of Gurudeva to Shimla

I was elated with the news of Gurudeva's arrival in Delhi. It was the August
of 1965, Gurudeva was staying in Delhi’s North Avenue. All the ascetics
and Brahmaciriis of North India were invited to visit Him in Delhi. I too
was there along with a newly initiated Margii. On reaching, I got to know
that Gurudeva was staying in Delhi only to start the next leg of his visit to
Jammu. Very soon after He reached Delhi we got the news that it was not
possible for Him to go to Jammu. Because of the simmering India-Pakistan
border tensions, a warlike state of emergency had arisen and curfew was
declared in Jammu.

Because the route to Jammu passes through the city of Samb4, which
was well within Pakistan’s firing range, it was not desirable to travel to
Samba at that time. As a result, the Jammu visit was cancelled and people
were disturbed. Now what? After contemplating the situation for a while,
Gurudevas personal secretary Acdrya Satyanandajii came out from His
room and announced that as of now it would not be possible to visit Jammu,
but Béba would go to any place which falls within 300 km radius. My instinct
poked me. Why should I not try to invite Gurudeva to Shimla? I discussed
this with my fellow Mirgii, who had accompanied me, and he encouraged
me. After meeting Babds personal secretary Acarya Satyanandajii, I
proposed this idea to him, and he liked my idea. He replied that he would
think over it. He had a curious look on his face, which was obscured by a
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smile. Or perhaps because he was aware of the Marga’s position in Shimla, he
was concerned about the arrangements for Gurudeva. He was aware of the
fact that [ had only recently been posted to Shimla in the month of June and
was still new to the town. So he set three conditions before me.

Firstly, three first class train tickets were to be arranged to Chandigarh,
because at the time, Mdrga Matd was present. Secondly, a car from
Chandigarh to Shimla was to be arranged and finally, there would have to be
proper accommodations for Gurudeva while He was in Shimla, and thirdly
the formulation of the right kind of strategy by the Himachal Margii’.

Before accepting these conditions, I thought it was necessary to
discuss these conditions with my fellow Margii. He gave me a very good
suggestion. The principal secretary of Himachal and the speaker of the
Himachal legislative assembly were visiting Delhi at that time. He suggested
that I go to Himachal Bhawan and talk to them, and everything would be
sorted out! Both of them had become Margii’s and I had extremely good
relations with them. Not only did they like the idea but the speaker also gave
his car and the principal secretary offered his house to be used for Babd's
accommodation. So, everything was fixed except the tickets. Taking the risk
of arranging the tickets on my own, I said yes to Acirya Satyanandajii. He
went to discuss this to Baba who gave his approval to go ahead. Though I
got the approval I needed, I still had one very important concern which
was, who would cook the food for Gurudeva. My fellow Margii came up
with yet another ingenious solution, which was to initiate my wife so she
could cook meals for Baba. Until that day no woman had been initiated in
Himachal and on that very night we left for Shimla.

At the scheduled time, the car reached Chandigarh to pick up
Gurudeva. In those days the Mall Road [Shimla’s main road] was off limits
to cars. So it was not possible to reach the official residence No. 1 Bamloi, of
the Chief Secretary in a car. It was decided that Bab4’s car would drive up to
the Cart Road and from there Baba would have to walk about 100-150 feet
to reach the Principal Secretaries residence. As soon as Baba got into the car
I told him of this plan and Bab4 nodded in agreement. I was relieved! Bibd’s
car arrived at the scheduled time. A good number of Margiis were waiting
on the either side of the pavement with flowers in their hands to welcome
Gurudeva. In August there are generally flowers in abundance in Shimla and
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the rest were provided by the gardens maintained by the Government. Babd’s
accommodation had also been arranged at the principal secretary’s residence.
Babd, covered with garlands, mounted the stage and I was ecstatic seeing
Baba was pleased.

According to the precedents of the organization, after reaching
Shimla, on Bébds order and with the consent of his pre-nominated
Secretary, I managed the entire arrangement process. I drew up Bébd’s work
schedule. After lunch Baba did not rest, and said, “Try to arrange as many
personal contact sessions as you can; I will not rest today” According to
Bébd's wishes the necessary arrangements were made. After having Prasada
of most revered Baba, I gathered up people for personal contacts sessions.
As far as I can remember now, Gurudeva had given personal contacts to 32
people and each of them had experienced Divine bliss. It was customary that
after each personal contact session, the individual was to be given personal
instructions. As soon as personal contact was over Baba made me sit with
Him and gave me a detailed and complete road map on how to carry out
work in the Himachal region. At the end, with a serious tone to his voice
Bdba commanded, “Proceed with your duties here unhesitatingly, I have
done your work?” Bdbd’s words turned out to be true, as in the following year
our mission’s dispersion gained great momentum.

In the evening, Gurudeva gave a General Darshana [a meeting where
one is blessed by Gurudeva] in the assembly hall of the DAV School in
Lower Bazar, a location that was close to Scandal Point a very famous
meeting point in Shimla, which people found easy to visit. Mérgiis came in
good numbers from very remote areas of Himachal to see Babd in person.
Since it was Bdbd's maiden visit to Himachal, and many personal contact
sessions were given before the evening Darshana, the entire atmosphere in
the hall was of a very spiritual vibration. People who attended the general
Darshana were very pleased and happy. A group of students that had come
from Bilaspur for Darshana could be seen actively participating in every
necessary task with great enthusiasm. After the personal contact sessions
were over Babd said to me, “I have done your work””

The topic of discourse during Gurudeva’s evening Darshana was
the impact of the glands [the endocrinal system] on the human mind and
its many expressions. Groups of people from Shimla and other parts of

27



Sharanagati

Himachal had been long deliberating on this topic. Moreover, as Shimla
was a state capital, many spiritual masters and distinguished persons would
come to the city and hold well organized spiritually oriented discourses.

But Babd’s discussions were absolutely new, fascinating, scientifically
explained, and psychologically oriented. The intellectual community
immediately understood it and the students were very impressed too.
Though Babds discourse lasted for barely 35 minutes, the impact was
immense.

Satsayyd ke dohere aor navika ke tiira,
Dekhana me chhotena lage ghdva kare gambhiira.

The meanings of the above lines are that the fisherman’s arrow is as
powerful as the 700 couplets of the poet, which when fully understood
create a lasting and deep impact.

Slowly, it dawned on me that there was an unseen purpose
behind Babd’s Shimla visit that his discourses worked like Mantrdghata
on Himachal. As I recall those days I now see that though Badba had
physically left Himachal, he had left behind a powerful spiritual vibration,
which precipitated with ease the missionary work of the Ananda Marga
in Himachal Pradesh. People in Himachal began to take a keen interest
in the Ananda Mérga and the eagerness to understand the Marga grew
dynamically.

Bébd had to return to Delhi immediately, I took Béba for a short
sightseeing trip. Soon, it was time for Him to return. Babé said, “Catch Me
a night train from Kalka to Delhi” We were returning to Kalka in the same
car. During the journey, Baba gave me many instructions and said, “Get
down to work fearlessly and without any hesitation.”

I did exactly that. I worked tirelessly day and night for two years. As
long as I was posted in Himachal, Baba used to come to Himachal almost
every year on some pretext. He came in 1966 and 1967 to conduct Shimla
DMC and Nahan DMC rectively. As [ was bidding goodbye to BABA I felta
strong urge to hold Him back, at the same time His warmly compassionate
eyes were assuring me that He too did not want to leave. I felt as if His
eyes were saying, “I do not leave” But this unspoken message would not
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calm me. I returned to Shimla with a heavy heart. Himachal had received
so many blessings but I, lost something. With a heart heavy with dejection
I tried to delve into old memories of bygone days in Shimla. There was no
other way. This mental state persisted for a few days, which is how long
it took me to return to normal. But one thing became very clear to me
after this visit. I had developed a very strong bond with Bdb4. It seemed to
me that He had already started to fulfill the promises He made to me in a
Ambagan in Assam. Now I had nothing to worry about. It took me some
time to realize those words.
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CHAPTER-09

Realization during Sddhanad Piitha
Training

In early 1966, Biba added a new chapter to the existing training program.
It came to be known as SPT [Sadhand Piitha Training]. Margiis in large
numbers, both family men and ascetics joined the second session of SPT,
of which I was a part. Along with us there were seventy-two trainees for
SPT. It was June and Varanasi was reeling under the scorching heat of the
midsummer sun. Due to shortage of adequate space in the Sigrd Training
Center, accommodation for trainees was made in the outhouse of Raman
Nivasa, Mahmurganj. Mérga Didi’s [a respectful way of addressing an older
woman or sister] were running a school in this house. However as the summer
recess was on, Raman Niwésa was available as accommodation. The famous
family Acdrya’s [a spiritual teacher or a very learned person] of that time,
Acérya Ratnesh Bhatt, Acarya Narendrajii were also a part of this group of
advanced trainees.

Today many of them have attained divine abode. Since it was only
the second batch of trainees undergoing SPT training, Varanasi was not
acquainted with this type of mendicant monk as it is today after decades
of experience. But it remains a fact that Varanasi has always had an ancient
tradition of hosting Yogiis, ascetics, and spiritual hermits, and it was for this
reason that Bab4 had selected Varanasi as a first choice to establish a training
center and run the new SPT program. As was the daily schedule, after
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completing our meditations and Yoga, by 8 am we had to go out to seek alms.
I would come back every day with new and real experiences. In the initial
two-three days we faced all sorts of troubles because we didn’t quite look like
trainee mendicants. As the days passed and our appearances changed we
no longer faced trouble. All the monks used to come back to the Matha by
10-10:30 am with raw and uncooked food items. The Trainer would inspect
the quality of food grains and distribute rice and wheat among us. He gave
everyone an earthen cook pot, a mug and attire for the SPT.

We had to make our own arrangements for fuel. In later years, as a
part of the Field Training Program, all of us would go to the banks of the
Ganges for missionary work. Almost all would return after initiating a new
spiritual aspirant.

One fine morning, I entered a residential society and walked up to the
gate of a house, perhaps it belonged to a certain university professor. Standing
at the gate as I chanted Mantra, the owner of the house noticed me and became
infuriated and came out with his eyes red with rage. As a matter of fact, this man's
dog was even more aggressive than him. What was worse, he almost burst with
anger when he saw that instead of attacking me his German shepherd became
calm after sniffing me for a few short minutes. Perhaps the animal recognized
me, and being guided by his soul he became silent? But the landlord, despite
being an educated person well versed in modern life of the times, didn’t bother
to understand my need but instead went back inside with an increased blood
pressure. I didnt get to know what happened to him after I left.

The Tantra Guru [Gurudeva] had taught me a hard lesson but I was
yet to experience the depths of His Divine play. After being humiliated by
the owner of the first house that I had come to, I walked on. Little knowing
that I was stepping into another area of the Divine playground set up by the
Cosmic Player who witnessed what was to happen for me. After walking
past 3 or 4 houses I knocked on a gate, all the while chanting the mantra.
Chanting brought about a wonderful vibration for me, and for the residents
of the house. The owner of the house called his wife in a curious tone of
voice, while keeping his eyes fixed upon me. It seemed as if he was not
willing to lose sight of me, even for a moment.

The house owner called his wife, “Do you hear me, come outside
with a full plate of offerings” Within few minutes the Divine Goddess
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of the house came out and stood in front of me. She was holding a plate,
which was piled high with rice, Munga Dila, vegetables, ghee or clarified
butter, Indian bread, a lamp [which was lit], and some cash. I thought that
perhaps the owner of the house along with his wife wanted to greet me by
performing Arati [a ritual of welcome or worship, performed with respect].
On seeing this scene unfold, I realized that this offering was not appropriate
for me. I spoke up and interesting talks followed.

The couple realized that this stranger at their door was not a beggar
but was a spiritual practitioner. Both of them were Professors of humanities
in the Kashii Hindu University and told me that the first house that I had
knocked on with the ferocious dog belonged to a science professor. Soon
after the period of penance ended, the lord and the lady of the house
pleaded with me to eat with them, and said they would drop me to the
Mat ‘ha on their way to the university. On my way back, I was so curious
that I couldn’t help but trying to locate that very house that had treated me
pleasantly but I couldn’t find it anymore. Like me others would also gain
real experiences every day. At night everyone would share their respective
stories while relaxing. Thus, because of SPT training, 1966 was a very
exciting year. At the time of adding this chapter with the training module
Bédba had said: “I have sorted out the problems of this organization. Now
nothing will remain impossible for our ascetics. Never in their lifetime will
they turn to the material world, because I have cleared their doubts and
given them power of determination.”
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CHAPTER-10

Second Himachal visit of Gurudeva
for the Shimla DMC

The wave of missionary work set off by the organization had clearly started
to bear fruit. Work went on day and night. Initiations and new branches were
getting registered regularly. The organization as a whole was growing well
because it was Ananda Marga's time to excel. And its expansion was horizontal
not vertical. According to German philosopher Arthur Schopenhauer any
organization has three stages of acceptance.

1. Itisignored [ridiculed]
2. Opposed [resistance]

3. Acceptance by being self-evident

This was the first stage of organizational growth. Young monks and
nuns, radiating an inner brilliance and a unique glow were out in public,
working with an indomitable spirit and unmatched courage for the well
being of the society. They went to remote often-inaccessible places for
missionary work. The late Thakur Sen Negi, the then Chief Secretary of
Himachal Pradesh was from the border district of Kinnaur. Negijii was
worried because at that time the influence of a certain group of people was
growing very fast which was not in the interest of our nation. Negiji wished
to revive and strengthen the bond that the people of that region had with
their own ancient culture and traditions, to inspire them to live a life based
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on the practice of Dharma. I visited Kinnaur on numerous occasions to
guide the local people on to the path of spirituality. On our very first trip
to Kinnaur, we couldn’t go beyond Kalpa by car. From T apri we had two
options; either to walk or ride on Khaccar or mule, there were no other
alternatives available to reach Kinnaur. A lot of people who took initiation;
one of them being the late Meher Chand Cauhan, a member of the first
group of spiritual aspirants who was initiated in Kinnaur. Subsequently
he became a very devoted spiritual practitioner. During my second visit I
walked up to Morang and was accompanied by late Karam Chandajii.

The journey to Morang along the banks of the river Sutlej was a very
pleasant one. The Sutlej cutting through the mountain or gorges with its
power and vigour; its waters pure, crystal clear and cold, the sky kissing the
Deodar trees on either side of the banks, enlivens the body and rejuvenates
the soul. The other side of the riverbank was dotted with beautiful Chilgoza
[pine nut] trees, which were looked like Ciira [long leaved Indian Pine]. In
those days Chilgoza trees constituted the lion’s share of Kinnaur’s economy.
Until then, no foreign varieties of apple’s had reached Kinnaur and the old
variety of apples that grew there were not fit to be sold in the market. For
the first time, apple orchards were encouraged in Kinnaur and the person
behind this was its Deputy Commissioner Shrii N D Jayal [IFAS]. Shrii Jayal
had a very exciting personal history.

Early on he was a pilot in the Indian Air force. One time he was flying
the late Pandit Nehrujii in an Air force plane somewhere, when suddenly
the plane developed a technical snag. Shrii Jayal landed the plane on the
road and saved the life of Panditjii. The PM was so happy that he introduced
a new administrative cadre to accommodate Shrii Jayal. Along with IAS,
IFAS [Indian Frontier Administrative Service] officers would be posted as
District Magistrates [DM’s] in border districts. Shrii Jayal’s wife was from a
royal family of Hyderabad. Both of them learnt spiritual practices and Yoga
Asanas. They helped me greatly in our social welfare work.

Since the time the Mérga began to expand in Himachal it began to
be said that there was not a single important person in Himachal who was
not, a Margii. The organization gave great importance to Himachal and
Béba kept on inspiring people by His own spiritual vibration. In July 1966,
Babad once again accepted a request to conduct the DMC in Shimla. All the
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while the number of Margiis continued to grow in Himachal. For this visit
the best arrangements possible were made to welcome Baba. By now I had
gained experience working Himachal. In those days Bab&’s main residence
was in Jamalpur. Baba used to begin His journey from Jamalpur to conduct
the DMC. This time Acdrya KSitishajii was Bab4’s attending secretary. Baba
and his attending secretary were sitting in the rear seat of the car and I was
sitting beside the driver.

As soon as Babd’s car entered Himachal at Kalka, and it started to gain
speed along the zigzag mountain roads, I realized that it was very difficult
for me to suppress a number of the Pariprashna [questions that haunt your
mind and hampers spiritual progress]. The answers to the questions were
lying dormant in my mind no doubt and wanted to be addressed.

Turning my head to look back I tried to gauge Babd's mood. Baba
appeared to be in a pleasant mood, and I sensed it was the right moment
to raise the question in front of Baba. However, before I could utter a word
Acérya Kiitishajii asked, “Baba what is Shraddha?” It seemed that Babd was
in no hurry to answer this question.

So Baba said, “You will get this answer during the Shimla discourse”
And Babd indeed did explain this in great detail at the Shimla DMC. Baba
while elaborating on the meaning of Faith, said: “After attaining confidence
in one’s own self, a person can channelize all energies of his/her entire
existence towards attainment of his or her I$ta as his ultimate goal. Hence it
would be incorrect to say that someone has “Shraddhd” for one individual.
It is only possible to have Shraddha for I$ta, an Ideology. This is not merely

an explanation but it should be accepted as ordained by the Guru?”

Now Gurudeva turned his attention to my Pariprashna. Gurudeva
was inside a Mercedes Benz car. I asked, “Béba, when you first appeared on
this earth as Taraka Brahma, at that time Nandi, an ox, was your vehicle.
On the second occasion when you came on this earth as Taraka Brahma
Lord Kréna, you rode on a chariot along with Arjuna, and perhaps when
you were alone you rode on a horse. But now, on the third occasion, you are
riding a Mercedes Benz”

Baba answered, “No, time has changed, and it was not an ox but
was a yak”

-
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As Béba himself said it, this was very significant from the perspective
of history because it changed the traditional belief system that was prevalent
in society. Like many other spiritual aspirants, I also realized the fact that
whenever Babi felt the need, he showed us or established the truth about the
origins of human society as it is, demystifying the many layers of falsehood
that had arisen around it, whether it was in the case of institutional science or
regarding the utmost importance of spiritual practice. These quintessential
words spoken by him are his real legacy, which will continue to guide many
spiritual aspirants before his reappears on this planet.

Riding on a yak He had travelled to remote countries and laid the
foundations of new civilizations, which in course of time became famous
as Harappéa and Mohanjodaro. Since childhood I had had many questions
regarding popular beliefs about Lord Shiva. So to quench my own thirst, I
used to often go to Baba to give him water, as in those days Baba used to
drink water with little lemon juice and salt.

Seeing an opportunity, I didn't hesitate to ask the other pressing
question to Bdba. The question was, “Babd, He [Shiva] used to live in
Kaelasha Parvata?”

Béba replied, “In winters he lived in Varanasi and during summer he
used to live in the Himalayan ranges as far as the tree line existed. A lack
of oxygen in Kaildsh Parvat makes living there impossible.” “Shiva himself
founded the city of Késhii” Bibd’s reply to the second question instantly
cleared the myth that “Lord Shiva lived in Kaildsh Parvat”

Shiva was as closely connected to Kashii as he was to the Himalayas.
This is possibly the only reason why Baba concluded his discourse on
Namah Shivéya Shéntdya in Késhii, at the official residence of late Balarim
Singh. Every single incident related to Babd’s life happened for a purpose
and at a particular point of time. Biba was taking an interest in his own
history and Acérya Kisitishajii was also enjoying as well. Now after two of
my questions were answered it was hard for me to keep my third query
suppressed! It seemed as if Acarya Kshitishjii had begun to realize that he
was a part of a journey, which was very important historically.

Third Pariprashna was, did Lord Shiva actually have blue skin? Babé
immediately replied, “No, how is it possible? It is not possible to have blue
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skin. His skin’s colour was camphor white” He was as fair as camphor, as
white as snow. Immediately after answering, Babd grabbed his nose and
started saying, “His nose was like this only”

Babd meant to say, “I have not changed the shape of my nose. It is
same”. This is how my initial questions regarding Tiraka Brahma came to
a satisfying end. As this inquiry was over Baba remained silent until He
reached Shimla. He did not volunteer any information on his own and I did
not ask anything of Him either. Perhaps He was absorbed in recollecting
His previous life incidents.

Gurudeva was given a grand welcome upon his arrival in Shimla.
Fine arrangement were made for Babd’s stay in Kaithu in the late Meldram
Sood’s home which he had received from the Dumardo State >f Bihar as a
gift, at a meager price of Rs. 10,000. Almost a year had passed since Babd’s
first visit to Shimla. And a lot of intuitional practitioners had already been
prepared and these intuitional practitioners helped generate curiosity
among people to see Biba and to hear his words.

Margiis in Himachal Pradesh were quite sensitive to Babd’s comforts
and discomforts. After His bath, Baba ate lunch and then got down to draw
up a daily schedule and directed me on what to do. It did not take me long
to realize that Baba was in a pleasant mood. He said, like the previous
year, that this year too he would give as many personal contact sessions as
possible. I was very happy with Babd’s impact on the numerous personal
contact sessions given the year, before as they had brought about good
results.

Because of the nature of its impact, the dream of organizing first
DMC in Himachal became real within a year. As Baba was going to rest
after His meal, I came out of His room and did a quick inspection of the
food arrangements for all present there. Acdrya Kiitishajii told me that
when Babd was leaving Jamalpur, He told him two things; this time I am
going to Shimla to complete two tasks. I will first give Avadhuta Diiksa
[Tantrika Initiation] to him [taking my name] and secondly, to conduct the
DMC. Baba said these things at the foothills of Himalayas. It would thus
not be an exaggeration on my part to say that I have received my Tantrika
Initiation directly from Gurudeva, and I am the only one fortunate enough
to have had this experience! I think it would be appropriate to mention here
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that before I was initiated in Ananda Marga, Lord Shiva was my Ista. I was
elated to be receiving my Téntrika Initiation in the lap of Himalayas. I felt
as if all my anxieties evaporated. I forgot almost everything about my past
and only faint, hazy memories lingered in my mind.

Several Margiis were given personal contact sessions in Shimla
and those who are still alive have become the pillars of Ananda Mérga in
Himachal today and have reached high stages of the spiritual realm. There
was one spiritual aspirant named Réjendra who was given personal contact
on July 24th, 1966. After committing his life to Babd’s mission, he came
to be known as Acérya Citsvarupananda Avt. From the perspective of the
organizations growth, Shimla DMC was an important event. This DMC
gifted a General Secretary [GS] to the organization. May Babé bless him,
inspire him and make him do great work! It was only these people who
stoically suffered the oppression of the emergency period, the tyranny of
the then Chief Minister Dr. Y.S. Parmar. Baba would reveal the history
of the neighboring places to us during his morning walk. The word
Shimla originated as a distortion of Devi “Shydmala”. This happened at a
transitional period of time when the Shakti was slowly taking Shiva’s place
but the people’s devotion to Lord Shiva remained intact.

I received my Tantrika initiation in Kaithu. As I was directed, after
putting Béba to sleep at night I would leave for cremation ground to
perform Tantra Sddhana for the prescribed duration and would return at
4 am. It was July and being the rainy session, I would get wet while on my
way to the cremation ground where I would go for my spiritual practice. I
would get wet in the rain on my way back too. Somehow I never caught a
cold! In those days Shimla used to get its maximum rainfall in July and such
heavy rainfall would cause a fall in the temperature. Such steep falls in the
temperature would create almost winter like conditions.

During discourses Baba would emphasize the importance of
Mantraghdta, and Baba said it would not happen easily, as your Guru
needs to sow the seeds for it. Though Béb4 said this in a light vein, some
people had just this experience during personal contact. Those deciphered
the secret were elated. Later on few newly initiated spiritual practitioners
urged Baba, “Bdb4, please fix me with Your stick so that my spiritual life
too becomes smooth {by Your touching me with Your Sot’ii(stick)}”. Bdba
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smilingly turned them down. By now people showed a keenness to work
in an organized manner. When it was time for Béba to leave the aspirants
behaved differently while bidding Bédba goodbye. After seeing off Baba I
finished my night Sddhana in Sanjauli cremation grounds. As I was walking
back, my mind suddenly became restless and tears rolled down from my
eyes. Though I pretended to be calm, I was not. It seemed as if I had left
my family just yesterday. I turned back towards the cremation grounds and
stood there just looking at the low ground I felt as if Baba was smiling and
telling me this is the path of an ascetic. This path takes you forward; your
past bondages have evaporated; now you move on. Since then, because of
His grace, I have never looked back, but have continuously moved forward
but the road is rugged and bumpy. A realization dawned on me that this is
the path of Tantra and this journey is not one of only pleasant experiences,
but is replete with constant periods of internal struggle. Bliss is the ultimate
goal, which is attained once the long path has been covered.

41



M S e—— " I

- -

=
l -
;.'#*rﬂ."'l'-m- - i s
S el . T ARSI T '
. mf'r:,ll'rq = - = «omt o=, ar = LL -
A 1.4 s ) B | T
. . St s il e g
. I o L T
# - i e = e
% y F.u 0 0T g P TR s B
e WASa o 8= a4 e PRyt
- et D oy nonne e .1-!.4-%&:% »
1T e afemmlaeed ey

el opRl A § B

o e A Tt ey e [
R Rl et

1- s 18 e P AR .

- t Taky o= s m— N

'.-l.- 3 .mn . fm. h.ﬂhﬂ-lf

Aimen g - - E :
a4 s B - o B - b ey
- -":i- . - s i N =
. |11i .#"'
'H---Jmﬁnﬂ-m-ﬂ p n -
L T